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Date: 11 March 2015 

To: Subcommittee 

From: Panel Executive 

SUBJECT: SHAREHOLDER INTENTION STATEMENTS  

Threshold issue 

1. The threshold issue is whether further market guidance on shareholder 
intention statements is required or whether ASIC’s existing ‘truth in takeovers’ 
policy and past Panel cases provide sufficient guidance. See Annexure A (the 
November Panel Day paper) for background information. 

Three policy options 

2. If something should be done, the executive sees broadly three options to deal 
with the issues that arise from shareholder intention statements. 

Option one: ASIC revises its ‘truth in takeovers’ policy 

3. ASIC could revise its ‘truth in takeovers’ policy so that intention statements are 
not binding on shareholders.  This change would need to be ASIC-driven, likely 
through a public consultation of amendments to ASIC’s Regulatory Guide 25. 

Option two: Panel provides guidance on shareholder intention statements 

4. The Panel could issue guidance on how it views shareholder intention 
statements and how it will treat the issues arising from them (see Annexure A). 
One option is to formulate a ‘safe harbour’ for bidders seeking to procure 
shareholder intention statements. **Explain – framework so not unacceptable 

Option three: seek a mandatory follow-on bid rule 

5. ASIC and the Panel could lobby for legislative reform to introduce a mandatory 
follow-on bid.  This could alleviate the issues around association and relevant 
interests which arise when a bidder seeks shareholder intention statements in 
support of a proposed bid. 
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Issues to address 

6. Regardless of whether ASIC or the Panel issues further guidance, policy issues 
and questions to be considered include: 

a) Should intention statements be dealt with under the false and misleading 
statements provisions in the Corporations Act or should they be governed by 
ASIC’s truth in takeovers policy or both or neither? 

b) Should intention statements only be permitted if they are:  

i. announced or published by the shareholder or  

ii. published in the bidder’s or target’s statement with the shareholder’s 
explicit consent to the particular statement? 

c) Should aggregated intention statements be permitted? 

d) What information should be disclosed alongside an intention statement? For 
example, the identity of the shareholder, individual holdings, time frame for 
acceptance etc. 

e) Should the Panel suggest a minimum time frame that a shareholder should 
wait before acting on their stated intention to accept an offer?1 

f) When will efforts to obtain intention statements give rise to an association or 
relevant agreement between the bidder and the shareholder?2 

g) When will procuring an intention statement result in the bidder acquiring a 
relevant interest in the shareholder’s shares? 

h) Should shareholders be more specific about what is a ‘superior’ proposal or 
offer?3 Should the Panel or ASIC give guidance about what would be seen as a 
‘superior’ proposal? 

i) When will an intention statement cease to bind a shareholder?4 

j) How should intention statements in the context of a scheme vs a takeover be 
treated differently?5 

k) Should statements by retail shareholders be treated differently to statements 
by institutional shareholders or substantial holders? (NB ASIC RG 25 does not 
extend to retail shareholders with less than 5%) 

l) Should ASIC or the Panel take the lead in providing guidance to the market? 

  
 

1 The Panel has required a shareholder to wait until 21 days after the offer has opened before accepting: MYOB 
Limited [2008] ATP 27 at [52]. See also Ambassador Oil and Gas Limited 01 [2014] ATP 14 at [76] 
2 What if the bidder uses a third party (eg, a financial adviser) to conduct its negotiations with shareholders? 
3 Eg, can a shareholder sell on-market at a higher price? If scrip in a foreign-listed company is valued at more 
than a rival offer, is it “superior” notwithstanding potential disadvantages in holding foreign-listed scrip? 
4 Eg, an increase in offer consideration or the emergence of a rival bid 
5 Need to consider any inconsistencies between the approach of the Panel in relation to bids and the courts in 
relation to schemes. NB Re Cellestis Ltd [2011] VSC 284 at [20], Davies J held that the directors who had made 
intention statements and entered into call options with the bidder did not form a separate class  
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ANNEXURE A 

 

November 2014 Panel Day Paper 
 

SUBJECT: SHAREHOLDER INTENTION STATEMENTS 

Overview of issues 

• What issues arise from statements about shareholders’ intentions to accept or 
reject a takeover offer (or vote in favour or against a scheme)? 

• Should the Panel issue a guidance note on shareholder intention statements? 

Background 

1. In 2014, 45% of takeovers and 86% of schemes were announced accompanied by 
a statement of shareholders’ intentions in response to the proposal. Most of the 
examples involving takeovers were friendly bids, and the majority of 
shareholder intention statements were given by directors of the relevant targets. 

2. ASIC RG 25 – Takeovers: false and misleading statements, commonly referred 
to as the “truth in takeovers” policy, notes as an example of a last and final 
statement, a statement by a substantial holder that the holder will (or will not) 
accept a bid.6 If the shareholder diverges from its statement, ASIC may take 
enforcement action against the shareholder. 

3. Two Panel applications this year have involved statements about shareholders’ 
intentions in relation to takeover bids and exposed some issues.  

Why obtain shareholder intention statements? 

4. Securing acceptances and creating momentum for a bid can be a drawn-out 
process as investors wait to see whether the bid will be declared unconditional. 
One way to counteract shareholder inertia is to obtain intention statements 
from shareholders (particularly substantial holders) prior to announcing a bid. 
Some bidders also see it as a way to obtain support for the bid without 
triggering the 20% threshold.  

 

6 ASIC RG 25 at [25.29] 
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5. It now appears to be market practice for shareholder intention statements to be 
made by the target or bidder through an ASX announcement or in a target’s 
statement or bidder’s statement.  

The risk of intention statements misleading the market 

6. RG 25 prescribes statements made by a target or bidder about the level of 
support for a bid to include specific information and shareholding percentages 
along the lines of: “X, holding 8% of ordinary shares, has stated that it will not accept 
at the current price”; or “holders of 5.4% of ordinary shares have stated their intention 
to accept into the bid”.7 

7. However, in two Panel matters (Breakfree 04 & 04R; Bullabulling), statements that 
followed the RG 25 formulation were found to be misleading (for various 
reasons) and constitute unacceptable circumstances. 

8. In Breakfree 04, Breakfree sent a letter to its shareholders informing them that its 
adviser had conducted a telephone survey of some of the major individual 
shareholders and stated (among other things) that “shareholders holding a 
majority of shares indicated that they would not accept the current all scrip offer”.8 The 
bidder then purported to rely on the statement to withdraw its bid, arguing that 
the statement demonstrated that its minimum acceptance condition would not 
be satisfied. 

9. The Panel discovered that the surveyed shareholders had provided differing 
responses (including qualifications), they were told that their responses were 
not binding on them and they were not informed that Breakfree would 
aggregate their responses with other surveyed shareholders to make the 
statement in the letter. The Panel concluded that the intention statement should 
have been “treated as mere puffery” and that it was not reasonable for the bidder 
to rely on it to withdraw its bid.9 

10. In Breakfree 04R, the Review Panel considered it unlikely that the Panel or a 
court would require the shareholders to act in accordance with the intention 
statements. It expressed the view that statements made about a third party’s 
intentions would not typically give rise to the same expectations of compliance 
in relation to last and final statements.10  

11. In Bullabulling, Norton, in its bidder’s statement, made acceptance statements 
including: “Certain Bullabulling shareholders, representing 6.6% of the [sic] 
Bullabulling’s shares on issue, have expressed their intention to accept the offer”. 

 

7 ASIC RG 25 at [25.74] 
8 Breakfree Limited 04 [2003] ATP 39 at [19] – [21] 
9 Breakfree Limited 04 [2003] ATP 39 at [137] and [144] 
10 Breakfree Limited 04R [2003] ATP 42 at [66] 
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12. Two weeks later, Bullabulling released a shareholder letter to ASX with 
rejection statements including: “holders of 41.8% of Bullabulling Gold’s shares have 
indicated that they do not intend to accept the Offer at the current price”. 

13. The Panel discovered that the rejection statements were compiled from 
statements given by 101 shareholders (most responding to a HotCopper post) 
who had given differently worded statements and whose percentage 
shareholdings had not been verified by Bullabulling.  

14. The Panel considered that the rejection statements were misleading as they did 
not accurately reflect the shareholders’ intentions.11 Nor did the letter give 
sufficient information about how the rejection statements were compiled, the 
qualifications to which some rejection statements were subject and the fact that 
consents were not obtained from the shareholders to aggregate and publish the 
statements.  

15. The Panel also considered the acceptance statements made by Norton were 
misleading because Norton had not disclosed whether those shareholders 
consented to the statements and Norton was associated with one of the 
shareholders and therefore already had voting power in that associate’s 
shareholding.12 

16. As the two matters demonstrate, making intention statements in reliance on 
informal telephone surveys or responses to internet forum posts is fraught.  

17. This raises the question of whether intention statements should only be 
permitted if they are made directly by the shareholder or, as Bullabulling found, 
if they are published with the shareholder’s explicit consent to the publication 
of the statement. This could avoid the problems that arose in the two matters.  

18. Perhaps aggregated intention statements should only be permitted to be 
aggregated where each statement is identical and shareholders have been 
informed of the intended aggregation. Perhaps also, specific information about 
the shareholders should be included with the aggregated statement (eg, names 
of shareholders and size of individual holdings).  

Application of RG 25 to intention statements by substantial shareholders 

19. RG 25 states in effect that substantial shareholders may be held to statements as 
to whether they will accept a bid.  The policy basis as to why this proposition is 
limited to substantial shareholders is unclear. 

 

11 Some rejecting shareholders had, in fact, accepted the bid 
12 The Panel accepted an undertaking offered by Norton, which dealt with the Panel’s concerns notwithstanding 
that the statements were not part of the application 
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20. An alternative policy might be state that shareholder will be bound by such 
statements only if their identity had been disclosed and/or they consented to be 
named.  

Questions of association and obtaining a relevant interest 

21. Bidders appear to view intention statements as a way of not breaching the 20% 
threshold while still gathering support for a bid. 

22. In MYOB Limited, the Panel drew an inference that there was an understanding 
between Manhattan and investors holding approximately 34% of MYOB who 
had indicated they would accept Manhattan’s offer for MYOB as soon as it 
opened. It concluded that the understanding went “beyond mere support for a 
bid”.13 The Panel felt that the intention statements gave Manhattan “a measure of 
control” and that the investors had committed themselves to accepting the bid.14 

23. The Panel concluded that the understanding amounted to a relevant agreement 
with the investors, and Manhattan acquired a relevant interest in the MYOB 
shares held by the investors. However, the Panel stated that “we should not be 
taken to be saying that a shareholder cannot make a statement that attracts the truth in 
takeovers policy without giving rise to a relevant interest.”15 

24. In Ambassador 01, in announcing its bid, Drillsearch also announced that two 
substantial holders and Ambassador’s three directors, collectively holding 
approximately 25% of Ambassador, had made statements that they intended to 
accept Drillsearch’s offer within 14 days from the opening of the offer, in the 
absence of a superior offer.  

25. Four days after Drillsearch’s offer opened it increased its offer and declared it 
unconditional. The two substantial shareholders and two of the directors 
immediately accepted Drillsearch’s offer. 

26. The Panel concluded that Drillsearch’s involvement in obtaining the intention 
statements made them associates of the directors and one of the ‘substantial 
shareholders’.16 Drillsearch therefore acquired voting power in their shares.17 
The Panel did not explore whether the intention statements gave Drillsearch a 
relevant interest in the shares. 

27. Both cases demonstrate the fine line that bidders walk when attempting to 
procure support for their bids.  

 

13 MYOB Limited [2008] ATP 27 at [30] 
14 MYOB Limited [2008] ATP 27 at [32] – [33] 
15 MYOB Limited [2008] ATP 27 at [31] 
16  The shares of the ‘substantial shareholder’ were held by his wife, who left all the arrangements to him 
17 Ambassador Oil and Gas Limited 01 [2014] ATP 14 at [59] – [66] 
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28. It would be useful for the Panel to consider giving guidance on what will 
constitute unacceptable circumstances when a bidder seeks intention 
statements. 

29. It would be useful also for any guidance to address what intention statements 
actually mean as the usual language used is ambiguous (as discussed below). 

What constitutes a ‘superior’ offer or proposal? 

30. Usually, a shareholder will specify an intention to accept an offer (or vote in 
favour of a scheme) “in the absence of a superior offer/proposal”. This raises 
questions about what constitutes a ‘superior’ offer/proposal and whether it is a 
subjective assessment made by each shareholder or objectively assessed. 

31. For example, in Ambassador 01, some shareholders argued that foreign-listed 
scrip was less attractive than ASX-listed scrip even though the foreign listed 
scrip was valued higher. Is a cash offer ‘superior’ to a scrip offer? What about a 
highly conditional bid? These are questions which a guidance note could 
canvass in order to assist shareholders to understand their obligations and 
market participants to assess and rely on intention statements. 

Specifying time frames in intention statements 

32. Some intention statements specify a time frame within which a shareholder will 
accept the bid. In Ambassador 01, the Panel said that the “purpose of specifying a 
time period and the qualification must be to wait in the hope that a superior proposal 
emerges”.18 Because the Ambassador shareholders and directors accepted the 
offer earlier than the 14 days referred to in the intention statements, the Panel 
considered that they had acted contrary to their intention statements. 

33. In MYOB and Ambassador, the Panel suggested that a waiting period of at least 
21 days after the offer opened was appropriate before shareholders acted on 
their stated intention to accept an offer.19 Formal guidance or policy on this 
issue may provide greater certainty for the market in the same way as the 
Panel’s 1% break-fee guidance has done. 

When does an intention statement cease to bind a shareholder? 

34. One of the biggest unanswered questions about intention statements is: when 
will an intention statement (whether or not it is qualified) cease to bind a 
shareholder? 

35. For example, if a bidder increases its offer in order to lift acceptances, does that 
constitute a change in circumstances which allows the shareholder to reconsider 
his or her position?  Does the emergence of a rival bid mean that all bets are 

 

18 Ambassador Oil and Gas Limited [2014] ATP 14 at [72] 
19 See MYOB Limited [2008] ATP 27 at [52] and Ambassador Oil and Gas Limited 01 [2014] ATP 14 at [76] 
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off?20 Can the shareholder still accept the first bid? Should the shareholder be 
compelled to accept a higher bid or sell their shares on-market? 

Use of intention statements in a scheme versus a takeover 

36. For schemes of arrangement, in the case Re Cellestis Ltd, Davies J held that the 
directors who had made intention statements and entered into call options with 
the bidder did not form a separate class.21 

37. It would be useful for any guidance to take into account differences in the 
scheme and takeover processes.  

 

 
Contrasting the UK and US position 

38. In the US, statements of intention are not treated as binding commitments. 
Instead, targets, bidders and shareholders make decisions knowing there is 
some uncertainty about how parties may respond to different developments. 

39. The UK Takeovers Code allows a bidder to procure an ‘irrevocable 
commitment or a letter of intent’ from the target’s shareholders to accept a bid 
or vote in favour of a scheme.  

40. Irrevocable commitments are treated as conferring an interest in securities on 
the bidder. However, a bidder can obtain irrevocable commitments which 
would take it above the 30% threshold without triggering the mandatory bid 
rule as long as such acquisitions fall within certain permitted categories, most 
notably where the takeover has been recommended by the target’s board.22 

41. The commitment must be publicly disclosed along with details about the 
shareholder’s identity, shareholding size and circumstances in which the 
commitment will cease to be binding.23 If the shareholder in question is unable 
(or no longer intends) to comply, the shareholder must promptly announce an 
update of its position.24 

Use of intention statements in recent takeovers 

42. We have compiled a table setting out examples of some recent intention 
statements (see Attachment A). There is a fairly standard form of words used 

 

20 A higher rival bid emerged in Ambassador 01, but the issue of whether all bets were off in relation to the 
intention statements was not raised in submissions 
21 [2011] VSC 284 at [20] 
22 UK Takeovers Code, Rule 5.2 and Rule 9 
23 UK Takeovers Code, Rule 2.11 
24 UK Takeovers Code, Rule 2.11. It is unclear how this rule operates to allow a shareholder to revoke its 
“irrevocable” commitment simply by updating the market that it no longer intends to comply with its 
commitment 

s 45
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and it is common for the intention statement to be included with the initial ASX 
announcement of the control transaction. 

43. Nineteen of the 22 schemes announced this year were accompanied by 
intention statements while 14 of 28 off-market takeovers announced were 
accompanied by intention statements. 

44. Of the intention statements given in relation to schemes, all of them had a 
‘superior proposal/offer’ qualifier. Twelve of the 14 intention statements given 
in relation to takeovers were similarly qualified.25  

45. Only 4 intention statements specified a time frame “within” which the 
shareholder would accept the offer.  In 3 cases the time frame was 14 days, in 
the other example, it was 14 business days. 

Conclusion  

46. ASIC RG 25 is not comprehensive, particularly as it applies to shareholder 
intention statements. The increasing use of intention statements and the two 
Panel applications this year indicate that the issues discussed in this paper may 
benefit from Panel guidance.  

47. We recommend forming a sub-committee to consider the issues in greater detail 
with a view to drafting policy. Further thought should be given to whether 
ASIC or the Takeovers Panel is the most appropriate body for disseminating the 
policy. 

 

25 One of the unqualified intention statements was made by Norton Golds in relation to its offer for Bullabulling, 
which the Panel considered in Bullabulling Gold Limited [2014] ATP 8 
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